No.: S230568

#### SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 2 4 2016

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, etc., et al., Petitioners,

VS.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT,

Respondent.

KATHERINE ROSEN, Real Party in Interest Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division 7

No. B254959

Los Angeles County Superior Court

No. SC108504

On Review of an Order Denying a Motion for Summary Judgment Honorable Gerald Rosenberg, Presiding

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Do California public institutions of higher learning—the University of California, the California State University and the California Community Colleges—and their employees have a duty of care to their students while in the classroom to warn of and protect from foreseeable acts of violence by fellow students?

#### INTRODUCTION

When she went to her UCLA chemistry lab on October 8, 2009, Katherine Rosen didn't know. She didn't know her classmate, quiet Damon Thompson, was hearing voices in his head saying she and other UCLA women were ridiculing him, calling him stupid. She didn't know Thompson had named her as one of the women doing so, had threatened to do something about it, had been writing letters to faculty for almost a year urging they stop the ridicule, and had a "history of violence," having been permanently expelled from the dorm and ordered to therapy as a condition of his remaining in school. She didn't know Thompson no longer knew right from wrong.

And she didn't know her professor Alfred Bacher and her teaching assistant Adam Goetz knew about Thompson's threats against her. She didn't know that Dean Cary Porter, and his fellow Consultation and Response Team [CRT] members, and campus police, and housing staff knew about Thompson's history

of violence. She didn't know the CRT was searching for Thompson but wouldn't think to look in the most obvious place to find him – the very chem lab she and he were attending.

What Katherine did know was that UCLA claimed she was on one of the most secure campuses in the country. She knew just months before, campus officials had re-published UCLA's commitment to "provide a safe work environment for all faculty, staff and students—one that is free from violence or threats of harm." Sadly, she didn't know UCLA would disclaim responsibility when those charged with implementing this commitment failed—a failure that resulted in Thompson's savage attack on her that day.

Rosen wasn't at a dorm drinking party. She wasn't playing intramural soccer. She wasn't facing the "disastrous consequences which result from combining young students, alcohol, and dangerous or violent impulses." She was in class where she needed to be if she hoped to graduate and pursue her dream of being a doctor. She was in class where the California Constitution says she has an inalienable right to safety.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 3EX642.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Crow v. State of California (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 192 (Crow); Tanya H. v. Regents of the Univ. of California (1991) 228 Cal.App.3d 434 (Tanya H)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ochoa v. California State Univ. (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 1300 [Ochoa]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Tanya H., 228 Cal.App.3d at p. 436.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 10EX2669.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Cal. Const., Art. I, § 28 (Art. 1, § 28).

UCLA failed Rosen. UCLA failed Thompson, too. Their relationship with UCLA was as "special" as any bus patron or prison inmate. It was as special as the UCLA faculty and staff enjoy. And Rosen and Thompson were entitled to believe UCLA's promises—hollow promises it continues to make to this day. They didn't know that UCLA would later claim that the risk of foreseeable fellow-student violence is simply part of the price of a public college education. They didn't imagine a Court of Appeal would agree.

Are UCLA's promises merely cynical public-relations gestures? Or does UCLA and its fellow public colleges have a duty to warn of and protect from foreseeable acts of student violence? Rosen, her 5,000 amici, Presiding Justice Perluss, and the 2.8 million public college students and their families say such a duty exists. The Court should so hold.

Lopez v. S. California Rapid Transit Dist. (1985) 40 Cal.3d 780 (Lopez), Giraldo v. California Dept. of Corr. & Rehab. (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 231.

As reported in the Los Angeles Times, "Student safety continues to be a top priority for UCLA, and we continually strive to provide a welcoming environment for all students that encourages learning and offers resources to support our students in need." (Ceasar, California Supreme Court to review opinion in UCLA stabbing case, Los Angeles Times (Jan. 22, 2016).)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Katherine Rosen matriculates to UCLA in 2007 and learns of UCLA's policies of providing a safe environment. The Dean of Students tells her she is "accountable" for these policies.

Katherine Rosen entered UCLA as a freshman for the Fall 2007 term and from her first day of orientation, she was made aware of UCLA's commitment to physical and emotional safety for its students. (1EX64–65.) The tragic events at Virginia Tech had occurred just months earlier. (7EX1848.) She and her parents were told "Welcome to one of the most secure campuses in the country." (8EX2099.) UCLA had mandated a stern Workplace Violence Prevention and Response Policy since the late 1990s. (3EX641.<sup>9</sup>)

That fall, an email from the Dean of Students, defendant Robert Naples, told Rosen, along with the rest of the student body, that she was "accountable" to know the Student Conduct Code and other UCLA Policies. (2EX455.) Naples stated his office was involved in several activities including "serving as an administrative support source for students in distress or crisis and by working closely with the UCLA community in holding students accountable for their actions, and holding them to the highest standards of academic and personal integrity." (2EX455.)

And Lake Notice Control of the Principles

The policy is imbedded in the electronic version of the document. (http://docs.chr.ucla.edu/chr/tabs/policy.html (as of 3–20-16).) Rosen includes it in her separately bound exhibits, Tab 5.

The Student Code of Conduct authorized the Dean of Students to exclude students from the campus who exhibited disruptive, paranoid, aggressive, and threatening behavior. (6EX1436–1439.) The UCLA polices included its threat assessment procedures and systems executed by its "Violence Prevention and Response Team," a multi-disciplinary group tasked with defusing foreseeable threats of violence. (3EX641–642.) Its component members, the Dean of Students, Office of Residential Life and Campus Counseling & Psychological Services [CAPS] were charged with forwarding and coordinating threats and concerns about violence. These services were paid for, at least in part, by the students themselves as mandatory, university-wide registration fees increased specifically for "prevention and intervention" of workplace violence. (7EX1817, 1824.) "UCLA is committed to providing a safe work environment for all faculty, staff and students-one that is free from violence and threats of harm." (3EX641.)

II. Damon Thompson transfers to UCLA from Belize in fall 2008 and displays escalating paranoia that would lead to his attack on Katherine Rosen a year later.

Damon Thompson transferred to UCLA in the fall of 2008. (2EX475.) Shortly after enrolling in classes, Thompson sent several emails to his history professor, Stephen Frank, reporting he was "angered" by "offensive" remarks other students had made to him during an examination. (2EX482–483.) He warned Dean Robert Naples in January 2009, that unless UCLA staff admonished his imagined female tormentors, "this will escalate

into a more serious situation and I'll end up acting in a manner that will incur undesirable consequences on me." (6EX1448.) Thompson's condition deteriorated over time as he was in and out of psychological treatment and involved in hostilities that resulted in his being excluded from university housing and ordered to anger management and psychological counseling.

- February 2009: Feeling "threatened" by Ouija board in the dorm. (2EX576.) "Thought about" hurting someone. (6EX1463.)
- March 2009: Acknowledged acting "confrontational" with roommate. (6EX1471–1472.) "Admits to feeling angry when he is harassed by others" and admitted "prior or current concerns about physically harming or killing someone." (6EX1493, 1497.)
- April 2009: Returned an insult to a woman who "insulted" his maturity. (3EX804.)
- June 2009: Dormitory incident during which Thompson assaulted a residence-hall neighbor; he is charged with and accepted responsibility for Threatening and Disruptive behavior within the meaning of the On Campus Housing Regulations. Thompson is permanently excluded from UCLA Housing for "Physical Assault," ordered to avoid all contact with the victim, ordered to complete "Judicial Educator" modules on anger management, civility, conflict management, and ordered to attend a psychological counseling session, failing which "a hold will be placed on your. . . registration [that] will prevent you from registering for classes. . ." (3 EX836, 6EX1525–1526.)

- July 2009: Complained to two professors that "instead of deterring such behavior, people in authority have. . . encouraged it. . . ." (6EX1532–1534.)
- August 2009: Campus police responded twice to Thompson's complaints that persons in his apartment building are yelling insults at him. (3EX878–880, 4EX1027–1028.)
- III. Thompson confronts the chemistry lab teaching assistant. He names Rosen as one of his tormentors. But UCLA's tardy efforts to intervene fail to prevent him from stabbing and slashing Rosen in the lab.

On September 29, 2009, Thompson complained to Professor Bacher of "poor results with my experiment due to disruption caused by other students." (6EX1555.) The next day he attended the psychological counseling session ordered as part of his expulsion from campus housing for physical aggression. (6EX1537–1543.<sup>10</sup>)

Laboratory teaching assistant Adam Goetz reported Thompson's complaints to Bacher. (6EX1552.) These complaints escalated to the point where Thompson confronted Goetz, pointed his finger at Goetz aggressively and was overheard saying "I'm going to do something about it if you don't." (6EX1562.) Rosen

Thompson saw both a psychologist and a psychiatrist. The latter noted Thompson's insight was "impaired" and prescribed thirty 50 mg Seroquel tablets for him. (6EX1643.) Seroquel is a psychotropic medication used to treat schizophrenia in adults. Side effects of Seroquel include mood or behavior changes or anxiety. (http://www.rxlist.com/ seroquel-drug/patient-images-side-effects.htm#sideeffects (as of 3–21-16).)

also observed this incident, posting on Facebook that Thompson "went a little crazy in the lab today and bitched out the t.a." "[H]e raised his voice and I think he actually cussed-out the t.a. Superscary." (6EX1580.)

Goetz reported that Thompson claimed women in the lab "were calling him stupid, and specifically [Thompson] often said that Katherine [Rosen] was."(6EX1574.)<sup>11</sup> Thompson would point out Rosen as one of two women insulting him. (6EX1547.)"I had been keeping Dr.[Bacher] informed on all this stuff and he was apparently trying to figure out what to do." (6EX1574.) Goetz emailed Bacher, "I don't want Damon to get upset because he thinks I'm not doing anything about this, but I don't know what to do." (6EX1584.)

Bacher asked Associate Dean of Students and CRT member Cary Porter for help on October 7. (6EX1706.) CRT members began searching for Thompson, recognizing that he needed intervention. "Seems like a health and safety issue to me," emailed CRT member Karen Minero. (6EX1726.) CRT only then learned Thompson had been excluded from housing and had a "history of violence." (6EX1595.) Minero thought this was "important." (*Id.*)

These messages were transmitted contemporaneously to Dr. Nicole Green, who had been treating Thompson months before for mental illness. (4EX936–939.) Elizabeth Gong-Guy, Director of Campus Counseling and Psychological Services and CRT member, told Green, "He [Thompson] may need urgent outreach."

UCLA acknowledged these facts were undisputed. (9EX2238-2239.)

(4EX931.) Green apparently spoke with Thompson that day and made an appointment for him, but he was a no-show. (4EX943.)

Porter was supposed to meet with Thompson. (6EX1587.) Gong-Guy was to meet with professor Bacher and Goetz, in what she characterized as "faculty outreach." (6EX1714, 1717.) But Bacher was getting married on October 8 and Gong-Guy was too busy to meet before October 9 anyway. (6EX1574, 1717.)

Rosen almost died. (4EX988.) Thompson was charged with attempted murder and found not guilty by reason of insanity. (Pen. Code, § 1026, 4EX1026.) He was committed to Patton State Hospital in December 2010. (4EX1026.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

### I. Rosen sues the Regents and several of the UCLA employees.

Rosen sued the Regents and named several individual UCLA employees. Rosen relied on the direct liability of the employee defendants and the vicarious liability of the Regents which arises when Government Code sections 820 and 815.2 are read in combination. (5EX1217–1218.) Section 820 holds a public employee liable for an injury caused by his or her act or omission "to the same extent as a private person." Under section 815.2, when the act or omission of the public employee occurs in the scope of employment, the public entity will be vicariously liable for the injury. Rosen alleged that having invited her on the campus and having enrolled her as a student in exchange for

tuition, a special relationship arose between her, the Regents, the individual defendants and other agents of the University creating a duty –

to take reasonable protective measures to ensure her safety against violent attacks and otherwise protect her from reasonably foreseeable criminal conduct, to warn her as to such reasonably foreseeable criminal conduct on its campus and in its buildings, and/or to control the reasonably foreseeable wrongful acts of third persons/other students.

#### (5EX1218-1219 [Second Amended Complaint].)<sup>12</sup>

The employees also had embarked on a substantial undertaking to protect and warn the entire UCLA community from threats of violence such as Thompson posed and also undertook to control Thompson prior to his attack. (*Ibid.*)

Rosen alleged that the UCLA employees knew of Thompson's violence and threats of violence directed at her and fellow students yet failed to employ measures available to them to warn of and protect from his foreseeable attack. (5EX1219.)

### II. UCLA moves for summary judgment but the trial court denies the motion.

In 2014, UCLA moved for summary judgment. (1EX1.) It admitted its contractual relationship with Rosen (1EX15–16),

Rosen asserts the negligence of both the named defendants and those other UCLA employees whose negligence was a substantial factor in causing her harm. The Regents could still be liable even if all the named individuals were exonerated. (*Perez v. City of Huntington Beach* (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 817, 820.)

Thompson's year-long history of paranoid behavior (1EX16–17), his entry into and out of psychiatric treatment (1EX17–19, 27–28), his expulsion from the dormitory, and his compulsory therapy just two weeks before his attack on Rosen. (1EX29.) It also admitted its undertaking to control campus violence in general (1EX16, 22, 26) and Thompson in particular (1EX19–20), as he named Rosen and other women as his tormentors.(1EX 31, 34.) Yet it claimed no duty to exercise due care in doing any of these things. (1EX36–40.) It provided expert declarations that acknowledged UCLA's undertaking to practice threat assessment to prevent campus violence and stated that UCLA had not breached its duties. (1EX46–51.) Finally, it contended its employees were immune under Government Code sections 820, 856 and Civil Code section 43.92. (1EX52–58.)

Rosen opposed it. Fleshing out the evidence of Thompson's paranoia, she highlighted his long history of increasingly violent threats and UCLA's unsuccessful undertaking to address them. (5EX1243–1252.) She argued that she stood in a special relationship with UCLA giving rise to a duty of care and that UCLA had undertaken to provide for her safety. (5EX1250–1260.) Her experts established UCLA's breach of duty in failing to conduct proper threat assessment as the standard of care and UCLA's protocols required. (5EX1261–1266.) And she showed how the immunity statutes did not apply. (5EX1266–1269.)

UCLA's reply memorandum and factual showing conceded many of Rosen's contentions. Significantly, it did not contest her duty by undertaking argument or present any evidence to contest her claim that she had relied on the undertaking and that it had increased the risk of harm Thompson posed. (8EX2210–2219.)

UCLA admitted that prior to attacking Rosen, Thompson had named her as one of the women "ridiculing and insulting him, and calling him 'stupid' at every lab session." (8EX2238–2239.)

The trial court denied the motion for summary judgment, concluding that UCLA "had a duty to warn [Rosen] and/or take reasonable steps to prevent the threat [Thompson] posed to [her]." The court listed three sources of law that imposed a duty on UCLA to protect Rosen from foreseeable third party misconduct. First, the court found that a "special relationship existed" between the parties based on Rosen's "status as a student." Second, the court found Rosen qualified as a "business invitee," explaining that landowners must "protect . . . [their] invitee[s] from foreseeable third party criminal acts." Third, the court concluded UCLA "may have voluntarily assumed the duty" to protect Rosen by "overseeing [Thompson's] psychological treatment" and attempting to "accommodate his disability." (10EX2667–2670.)

The court also found that the parties' conflicting expert declarations raised triable issues of fact whether UCLA had "breached its duty when it failed to inform [Rosen] that Thompson had identified her as a target of his anger and/or failed to place her into a different lab." The court also ruled that "the immunity statutes do not apply here." (*Ibid.*)

The majority rejected this premise on the authority of *Zelig v. County of Los Angeles* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1112 because Rosen had not shown a physical defect in the classroom. (Opn. 21-22.) Rosen believes *Zelig* was incorrectly decided in this context but does not press the point here because UCLA's duty is established in so many other ways.

## III. UCLA seeks appellate review and a divided court reverses. Rosen petitions for rehearing and review.

UCLA filed a petition for writ of mandate "directing respondent superior court to enter summary judgment" in defendants' favor. On October 22, 2014, the Court of Appeal issued an order to show cause and a call for amicus briefs stating that the petition "potentially presents issues of broad statewide importance."

On October 7, 2015, Justice Laurie Zelon, writing for herself and Los Angeles County Superior Court Judge Mary Strobel, filed an opinion granting UCLA's petition. Relying on decades-old cases involving campus drinking and intramural sports, the majority declared "a public university has no general duty to protect its students from criminal acts of other students." (Opn. 2.)

Presiding Justice Dennis Perluss thought otherwise. Noting UCLA's aspirations to "do everything feasible to create safe and secure campuses," he would find "a special relationship exists between a college and its enrolled students, at least when the student is in a classroom under direct supervision of an instructor, and the school has a duty to take reasonable steps to keep its classrooms safe from foreseeable threats of violence." (Dis. 2.)

Rosen filed a timely petition for rehearing on October 21 in which she pointed out errors in the majority's factual summary and in its analysis. (Cal. Rules of Court [Rule], rules 8.268,

8.490.) The court denied the petition without comment. The Court of Appeal's judgment became final on November 6. This Court granted Rosen's petition for review on January 22, 2016.

#### **ARGUMENT**

When Californians adopted their "Master Plan for Higher Education" in 1960<sup>14</sup>, they struck a balance between centers of excellence on one hand, and democratically-accessible education on the other. Under the Plan, California has a three-tiered system, serving nearly three million students each year. Guaranteeing a place for everyone, the Plan "requires a commitment from all to make high-quality education available and affordable for every Californian." <sup>15</sup>

In 2008, after Virginia Tech, Californians guaranteed their college students safe classrooms. "[T]he People find and declare that the right to public safety extends to public . . .community college, California State University, University of California, . . . .campuses, where students and staff have the right to be safe and secure in their persons. <sup>16</sup>

Yet, according to the majority, public college students must now accept the risk of classroom violence as the price of their education. This conclusion defies public policy and cannot withstand scrutiny when analyzed.

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