Public Entity ~ No Fee Required ~ Gov. Code, § 6103

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, a public entity; ALFRED BACHER; CARY PORTER; ROBERT NAPLES; and NICOLE GREEN, public employees,

Defendants and Petitioners,

vs.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent.

KATHERINE ROSEN, an individual,

Plaintiff and Real Party in Interest.

2d Civil No. B259424

(Court of Appeal, Second District, Division 7)

(Los Angeles Superior Court, West District, Case No. SC108504, Hon. Gerald Rosenberg, Judge)

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 26 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. CALIFORNIA PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER EDUCATION AND THEIR EMPLOYEES DO NOT OWE A DUTY OF CARE TO PROTECT THEIR STUDENTS FROM ACTS OF VIOLENCE BY FELLOW STUDENTS, WHETHER IN THE CLASSROOM OR ELSEWHERE ON CAMPUS, EXCEPT IN NARROW EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES NOT PRESENT IN THIS CASE.

The Court of Appeal majority found that nothing in this case sparks a basis "to depart from the settled 'rule that institutions of higher education have no duty to their adult students to protect them against the criminal acts of third persons." (Slip opn. 18, quoting *Ochoa v. California State University* (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 1300, 1306, disapproved on other grounds in *Avila v. Citrus Community College Dist.* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 148, 160, fn. 5.) "As with the assault that occurred in *Tanja H. v. Regents of University of California* (1991) 228 Cal.App.3d 434," the Court noted,

the conduct at issue here—a violent crime perpetrated by an individual suffering from mental illness—is a societal problem not limited to the college setting. While colleges and universities may properly adopt policies and provide student services that reduce the likelihood such incidents will occur on their campuses, they are not liable for the criminal wrongdoing of mentally-ill third parties, regardless of whether such conduct might be in some sense foreseeable.

(Slip opn. 18.)

The Court of Appeal was correct. This Court should not impose a duty on UCLA and its fellow public colleges to warn of and protect against virtually any foreseeable acts of violence, whether committed by students or others. Neither the facts of this case, nor the well-developed framework of California law, nor public policy justifies the creation of the broad duty

that Rosen advocates. In fact, there are substantial policy reasons to reject it.

A. Duty Is A Question Of Law Properly Resolved On Summary Judgment.

Duty is a question of law. (Avila v. Citrus Community College Dist., supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 161.) "As such, it is generally amenable to resolution by summary judgment." (Eriksson v. Nunnink (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 826, 838; Kahn v. East Side Union High School Dist. (2003) 31 Cal.4th 990, 1004.)

Rosen acknowledges this principle but contends the facts are insufficiently developed to permit its application. (OBOM 24-26.) That isn't so. Rosen and the UCLA defendants rely on the same well-developed factual record, and there are no material disputes about what happened. The dispute is over the legal consequences of the facts, a question properly amenable to resolution as a matter of law.

B. There Is Neither Sound Basis Nor Impetus For This Court To Overhaul California Jurisprudence To Create A Broad College/University Exception To The Well-Established Rule That One Owes No General Duty To Protect Others From Third-Party Tort Or Criminal Conduct.

Rosen intimates that there is something unusual or untoward in holding that institutions of higher learning owe no duty to protect students against third-party criminal conduct. In fact, however, as Rosen acknowledges (OBOM 30), there is no general duty to protect others even from foreseeable criminal conduct. The circumstances in which the law has recognized exceptions to that rule are narrow and dissimilar to anything

presented here. Moreover, imposing such a duty on colleges and universities would have a profound adverse impact on higher education by alienating or excluding the very students who require special assistance, without measurably increasing university community safety overall.

1. There is no general duty to protect others even from foreseeable tortious or criminal third-party conduct.

Courts have repeatedly recognized there is generally no legal duty to protect another from tortious or criminal injury by a third party:

The general rule is that, "one has *no* duty to come to the aid of another. A person who has not created a peril is not liable in tort merely for failure to take affirmative action to assist or protect another unless there is some relationship between them which gives rise to a duty to act."

(Camp v. State (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 967, 975, italics added, quoting Williams v. State of California (1983) 34 Cal.3d 18, 23 [Highway Patrol officer responding to traffic emergency owed no duty to plaintiff who sustained spinal injury because officer failed to inquire about injury or summon medical personnel, and ordered passengers to leave the scene without ascertaining whether doing so might aggravate plaintiff's injuries]; see, e.g., Delgado v. Trax Bar & Grill (2005) 36 Cal.4th 224, 235 ["as a general matter, there is no duty to act to protect others from the conduct of third parties"]; Zelig v. County of Los Angeles (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1112, 1118-1119 [County not liable for husband's murder of wife in courthouse when both were present for dissolution proceedings, notwithstanding that wife had previously sought redress in family court due to husband's verbal abuse, and had informed bailiff on at least three occasions "that she feared Harry and believed he might attack or kill her in the courthouse"].)

Numerous decisions apply this principle. (E.g., *J.L. v. Children's Institute, Inc.* (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 388, 392-394, 396-399 [child care referral service owed no duty to a child sexually assaulted by daycare provider's teenage grandson at daycare to which the service had referred the child's family, even if service failed to inquire about the grandson's presence]; *Margaret W. v. Kelley R.* (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 141, 150 ["If there is no duty, there can be no liability, no matter how easily one may have been able to prevent injury to another"].)

As with most general rules, the courts have recognized a few exceptions. But they are infrequent and narrow, and there is no compelling reason to expand their number or scope to encompass the situation here.

2. Colleges/universities have no special relationship with their students based upon their enrollment, and consequently owe no generalized duty to protect students from harm.

When California courts have carved exceptions to the no-duty rule and imposed a duty to protect others from third-party peril, it typically has been in limited circumstances where there is a "special relationship" between the injured party and the one sought to be held liable. (Williams v. State of California, supra, 34 Cal.3d at p. 23.) For example, courts have sometimes imposed this type of protective responsibility in the K-12 setting because of the mandatory nature of school attendance and the comprehensive control over students exercised by school personnel "analogous in many ways to the relationship between parents and their children." (C.A. v. William S. Hart Union High School Dist. (2012) 53 Cal.4th 861, 869-870; M.W. v. Panama Buena Vista Union School Dist. (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 508, 517 [duty based in part on "compulsory nature

of education," citing Ed. Code, §48200]; Leger v. Stockton Unified School Dist. (1988) 202 Cal.App.3d 1448, 1459 [duty of care arises from requirement of mandatory attendance, and public school officials "are directly in charge of children and their environs, including where they study, eat and play"].)

No such special relationship exists in the collegiate context.

California courts have uniformly rejected imposing negligence liability on colleges and universities for injuries to students arising from the criminal acts of third persons precisely because they have no special relationship with their students, and accordingly owe no duty to protect them from such assaults.

- Holding that "institutions of higher education have no duty to their adult students to protect them against the criminal acts of third persons," the Court of Appeal rejected a college student's negligent supervision claim for injuries he sustained when an opposing player punched him during an intramural soccer game. (Ochoa v. California State University, supra, 72 Cal.App.4th at p. 1306.)
- In Tanja H. v. Regents of University of California, supra, 228 Cal. App.3d 434, the Court of Appeal affirmed summary judgment for the university in this personal injury action brought by a UC Berkeley student who was assaulted by fellow students following a party in a university dormitory they shared. The Court declared, "[a] university is not liable as an insurer for the crimes of its students." (Id. at p. 435.) The Court explained, "[a]s campuses have, thus, moved away from their former role as semi-monastic environments subject to intensive regulation of student lives by college authorities, they have become microcosms of society; and

unfortunately, sexually degrading conduct or violence in general—and violence against women in particular—are all too common within society at large. College administrators have a moral duty to help educate students in this respect, but they do not have a legal duty to respond in damages for student crimes." (*Id.* at p. 438.)

- Similarly in Crow v. State of California (1990) 222

 Cal.App.3d 192, the Court of Appeal affirmed summary judgment for a state university in an action brought by a student who suffered injuries as a result of an assault by another student in a Cal State dormitory. The Court expressly rejected the contention that Crow's affiliation with the university as a student created a special relationship imposing a duty to protect him against criminal assaults. (Id. at p. 208.) Distinguishing its own decision in Leger v. Stockton Unified School Dist., supra, 202 Cal.App.3d 1448, the Court explained that in Leger, "[w]e noted that attendance at high school is mandatory and that school officials are directly in charge of the children and their environs. . . . Here in contrast, plaintiff was an adult college student voluntarily participating in drinking beer at the dormitory." (Crow, supra, at p. 208; see id. at p. 209.)
- As the Court noted in *Baldwin v. Zoradi* (1981) 123

 Cal.App.3d 275, "the authoritarian role of college administrators is gone.

 Students have demanded rights which have given them a new status and abrogated the role of *in loco parentis* of college administrators." (*Id.* at p. 287 [no special relationship between Cal Poly trustees and university students imposing duty of due care to prevent injuries sustained by plaintiff in "speed contest" with fellow students].)

When this and other California courts have imposed a duty of care in the college/university setting, it has not been based on general recognition of a special relationship, but rather on existing duty principles applied to activities directed by the school. In *Patterson v. Sacramento City Unified School Dist*. (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 821, 828-833, the Court applied existing duty principles codified in the California Tort Claims Act to conclude that a K-12 school district owed a duty to supervise and protect an adult student who was injured in an adult truck driver training course, because "the instructors expressly and properly undertook supervision of the off-campus community service project."

In Avila v. Citrus Community College Dist., supra, 38 Cal.4th at pp. 162-163, this Court also applied existing tort principles in concluding that a college owed a duty of care to athletes engaging in intercollegiate competitions where the activity was undertaken on behalf of the college and under its formal supervision. But in so holding, the Court imposed a very limited duty—a duty not to increase the specific risks inherent in the athletic competition. This Court did not impose any sort of generalized duty to protect students from risks external to the competitions. Moreover, this Court made clear that it was not departing from the established principle as articulated in *Crow* and *Baldwin* "that colleges and universities owe no general duty to their students to ensure their welfare." (*Ibid.*)

Thus, both *Patterson* and *Avila* applied existing tort law principles, and did not apply the special relationship doctrine to find a duty. The mandatory nature and the supervision of those activities justified a conclusion of a duty to protect against the risks of those particular activities. But even then, the ultimate duties differed—e.g., one case

imposed a duty not to increase the risks while the other imposed a duty to protect against the risks. There are no similar allegations or evidence here. Rosen does not assert that she was injured as a result of a failure to supervise an on-campus classroom activity, such as a botched experiment; rather she asserts a failure to protect her from criminal conduct completely unrelated to the work performed in the chemistry lab.

While Justice Perluss relies on Avila, his analysis jumps without explanation from this Court's recognition of a duty not to increase the risks inherent in sport, to the conclusion that there is a general duty to protect college students in the classroom—without addressing this Court's clear statement in Avila rejecting a generalized duty of care. (Dis. opn. 7-10.) Just as this Court was unwilling to make that leap in Avila, Rosen fails to justify making the leap in this case. It remains undisputed that the risk of third-party criminal conduct was not an inherent risk in the laboratory activities on that day, nor was it connected to the physical condition of the property. In sum, there was no connection, let alone a close connection, between defendant's actions and the injury. (Rowland v. Christian (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108, 113.)

Rosen invokes two cases involving a special relationship premised on the defendant having placed plaintiff in a custodial relationship. In Lopez v. Southern California Rapid Transit Dist. (1985) 40 Cal.3d 780, this Court held that as a common carrier with a heightened duty of care under Civil Code section 2100, a transit authority had a special relationship with its passengers because it effectively placed them in "a sealed . . . cocoon" in often highly volatile situations with limited means to protect themselves. (40 Cal.3d at p. 789.) Similarly in Giraldo v. California Dept. of

Corrections & Rehabilitation (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 231, the Court of Appeal, relying on out-of-state authority, held that a jailer owed a duty of care to protect prisoners from foreseeable assaults by fellow inmates. (168 Cal.App.4th at pp. 250-253.) According to Rosen, university students "are captive, vulnerable, and wholly dependent on faculty and staff for safety, just as are bus patrons and prison inmates." (OBOM 31.)

The contention does not withstand scrutiny. College students are not a captive audience. They come and go from class and campus at will, even forgoing attendance altogether. Moreover, like other California colleges and universities, UCLA far more resembles a city—in UCLA's case a city of 40,000 (such as, say, Rancho Palos Verdes, or San Bruno, or Palm Springs)—than it does the prison described in *Giraldo* or the confined atmosphere of the bus in *Lopez*. UCLA's students freely roam the campus and engage in learning activities in a broad range of environments—libraries, sculpture gardens, student centers.

Further, the campus environment is largely populated by adults, whom the law presumes to be capable of assuming basic responsibilities. Although Justice Perluss postulates that recent developments in neuroscience indicating that the brain is not fully mature until the age of 26 should trigger re-examination of tort duties in the college campus context (Dis. opn. 10-11, fn. 6) that is precisely the sort of inquiry that is the province of the Legislature, which has long assumed the duty of determining the age at which individuals become an "adult" for numerous purposes, including living on their own, having the capacity to enter into contracts, or purchasing tobacco, alcohol or firearms. (E.g., Fam. Code, §6500 [age of majority is 18]; Bus. & Prof. Code, §25658 [drinking age

is 21].) If the average university student is to be deemed an adult everywhere *but* the college campus, that is a determination to be made by the Legislature. (See, e.g., *Verdugo v. Target Corp.*, *supra*, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 330, 341.)

While a special relationship may arise where one is injured while in a condition of captivity, vulnerability, and total reliance on the person against whom he or she seeks to impose liability, college students do not remotely meet that description, even when they are supposed to be in class.

Neither law, logic, nor the realities of modern campus life supports recognition of any duty of care based on a special relationship derived from Rosen's status as an enrolled student.

3. The "communicated threat of violence" exception does not apply here.

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